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CAST OF CHARACTERS

THE QUANDTS

Giuinther Quandt: Patriarch. Industrialist.

Horst Pavel: Giinther’s right-hand man.

Toni Quandt: Giinther’s fi st wife. Herbert’s mother.

Magda Goebbels: Giinther’s second wife. Harald’s mother.

Ello Quandt: Giinther’s sister-in-law. Magda’s best friend. Harald’s god-
mother.

Harald Quandt: Only child from Magda and Giinther’s marriage.

Gabriele Quandt: Harald’s daughter.

Herbert Quandt: Giinther’s eldest son. BMW’s savior.

Susanne Klatten: Herbert’s youngest daughter. BMW heiress.

Stefan Quandt: Herberts youngest son. BMW heir.

THE FLICKS

Friedrich Flick: Patriarch. Industrialist.

Otto Steinbrinck: Friedrich’s right-hand man.
Otto-Ernst Flick: Friedrich’s eldest son.

Muck, Mick, and Dagmar Flick: Otto-Ernst’s children.
Friedrich Karl Flick: Friedrich’s youngest son.
Eberhard von Brauchitsch: Friedrich Karl’s best friend.
Ingrid Flick: Friedrich Karl’s widow.



THE VON FINCKS

August von Finck Sr.: Patriarch. Private banker.

Kurt Schmitt: Allianz CEO. Reich minister of economic aff irs.
August “Gust!l” von Finck Jr.: Investor.

Ernst Knut Stahl: Gustl’s right-hand man.

THE PORSCHE-PIECHS

Ferdinand Porsche: Patriarch. Creator of Volkswagen and Porsche.
Anton Piéch: Ferdinand’s son-in-law. Married to Louise.
Ferry Porsche: Ferdinand’s son. SS offic .

Louise Piéch: Ferdinand’s daughter. Married to Anton.

THE OETKERS

Richard Kaselowsky: Patriarch. CEO of Dr. Oetker.

Rudolf-August Oetker: Kaselowsky’s stepson. Waffen-SS offic .

Rudolf von Ribbentrop: Rudolf-August’s best friend. Waffen-SS
offic .

THE TOP NAZIS

Adolf Hitler: The fiihrer.

Joseph Goebbels: Reich minister of propaganda. Magda’s spouse. Harald’s
stepfather.

Hermann Goring: Reichsmarschall. Main decision maker in Nazi eco-
nomic policy.

Heinrich Himmler: Reichsfiihrer SS. Principal organizer of the Holocaust.

Hjalmar Schacht: Reichsbank president and Reich minister of economic
aff irs.

Walther Funk: Reich minister of economic aff irs and Reichsbank presi-
dent.

Otto Wagener: Hitler’s economic adviser.



Wilhelm Keppler: Hitler’s economic adviser. Kranefuss’s uncle.
Fritz Kranefuss: Organizer of Himmler’s Circle of Friends. Keppler’s

nephew.

THE PERSECUTED
Adolf Rosenberger: Cofounder of Porsche.

Johanna and Fritz Heine: Business owners.

Hahn family: Business owners.

Heirs of Julius and Ignaz Petschek: Business owners.
Willy Dreyfus: Private banker.

Louis von Rothschild: Private banker.

THE AMERICANS
Telford Taylor: Chief prosecutor of the Nuremberg Military Tribunals.

John J. McCloy: US high commissioner for occupied Germany.

THE REIMANNS

Albert Reimann: Patriarch. CEO of Joh. A. Benckiser (JAB).
Peter Harf: Chairman of JAB. Family confi ant.
Wolfgang Reimann: Albert’s eldest son.



Giinther Quandt.

Magda Friedlinder.



Friedrich Flick.

A young Harald Quandt, with his mother,
Magda, and Joseph Goebbels, 1931.



Magda and Joseph Goebbels arm in arm at their wedding, with Harald
Quandt, 1931. The best man, Hitler, is in the background.

Flick’s right-hand man,
Otto Steinbrinck,
in his 8§ uniform, 1934.
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Porsche’s Jewish cofounder,
Adolf Rosenberger.
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Hitler striking the museum’s foundation stone with August von Finck, in suit,
standing directly behind him. Moments later, the silver hammer broke.

Kaselowsky with his Nazi Party badge.
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Father and son Porsche in the 1930s.

Rudolf-August Oetker standing between his grandmother (right)
and her chauffeur (left), 1933.
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August von Finck and Hitler giving the Nazi salute
at the Haus der Deutschen Kunst.
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Laying the foundation stone at the Volkswagen factory, May 26, 1938.
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Harald Quandt, in uniform, with Magda and Joseph Goebbels
and his six half siblings, 1942.

Friedrich Flick and his sons, Otto-Ernst (in the back), Rudolf (in the front,
at right), and Friedrich Karl (left), at their family villa in Berlin Grunewald,
early 1930s.
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Ferry Porsche (in suit) standing by as Hitler inspects the
swimming car, with Himmler behind him, 1941.

Rudolf-August Oetker (center rear) in his Wehrmacht uniform, behind his mother,
Ida, and Westphalias Gauleiter Alfred Meyer, 1941.
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Joseph Goebbels giving his “Total War” speech at Berlin's
Sportpalast, February 18, 1943.

Ferdinand Porsche on top of a tank he designed, 1943.
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Poster showing boxes of Dr. Oetker Pudding Powder
for the Wehrmacht.
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Friedrich Flick standing between court marshals
at his Nuremberg trial, 1947.

August von Finck in the 1970s.
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The Flick family in 1960. Otto-Ernst at the far left, Marie and Friedrich
in the center, and Friedrich Karl at the far right.

Eberhard von Brauchitsch and Friedrich Karl Flick, 1982.
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Herbert Quandt on his seventieth
birthday, 1980.

Ingrid Flick.
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August von Finck Jr. in the 2000s.

Stefan Quandt at the Jewish Museum Berlin, 2018.
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APPENDIX: FAMILY TREES

These are not complete family trees, as they omit certain spouses and
members of older and younger generations. They include only those fam-

ily members who are relevant to this book.

The Quandt Dynasty

Giinther Quandt Antonie “Toni” Ewald Magda Ritschel
1881-1954 1884-1918 1901-1945
\ First wife Second wife \
divorced in 1929
Magda married
Joseph Goebbels
(1897-1945) in 1931.
Hellmut Herbert Ursula Lieselotte Johanna Harald Inge
Quandt Quandt Miinstermann Blobelt Bruhn Quandt Bandekow
1908-1927 1910-1982 divorced in 1940 divorced in 1959 1926-2015 1921-1967 1928-1978

I e p e e

Silvia Sonja  Sabhina  Sven  Susanne Stefan Katarina Gabriele Anette Colleen- Patricia

Quandt Quandt- Quandt- Quandt Klatten Quandt Geller ~ Quandt May-Thies Bettina Halterman

b. 1937 Wolf Frew  b.1956 b.1962 b.1966 b.1951 b.1952 hb.1955 Rosenblat 1967—
b. 1951 h. 1953 b. 1962 2005

Note: All known years are given.
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The Flick Dynasty

Friedrich Flick Marie Schuss
1883-1972 1890-1966

Otto-Ernst Flick  Barbara Raabe Rudolf Flick Ursula Reuther  Friedrich Karl Flick  Ingrid Ragger
1916-1974 1921-2010 1919-1941 divorced in 1975 1927-2006 b. 1959

| | | ﬁH h‘ﬁ

Gert-Rudolf Friedrich Dagmar von Alexandra  Elisabeth von Viktoria- Karl-Friedrich

“Muck” Flick Christian Wietersheim Flick-Butz Auersperg- Katharina Flick
b. 1943 “Mick” Flick b. 1951 bh. 1968 Breunner Flick b. 1999
b. 1944 b. 1973 b. 1999

Note: All known years are given.

The von Finck Dynasty

Wilhelm von Finck Sr. Marie Faustle
1848-1924 1865-1935

Wilhelm von Finck Jr.  August von Finck Sr.  Margot von Riicker
1893-1916 1898-1980 divorced in 1942 Gerda Mau

Wilhelm von Finck  August von Finck Jr. Eleonore Grziwa Gerhard von Finck Helmut von Finck
1927-2003 1930-2021 1931-2014 h. 1954 b. 1959

Note: All known years are given.
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The Porsche-Piéch

Ferdinand Porsche
1875-1951

Dynasty

Aloisa Kaes
1878-1959

Louise Porsche Anton Piéch Dorothea “Dodo” Reitz Ferdinand “Ferry” Porsche
1904-1999 1894-1952 1911-1985 —
Ernst Piéch Louise Ferdinand  Hans Michel  Ferdinand Gerhard Hans-Peter ~ Wolfgang
b. 1929  Piéch-Daxer Piéch Piéch Alexander Porsche Porsche Porsche
1932-2006 1937-2019  h. 1942 Porsche b. 1938 b. 1940 b. 1943
1935-2012

The Oetker Dynasty

Ida Oetker Richard Kaselowsky
1891-1944 1888-1944
Oetker’s mother Oetker's stepfather

Rudolf-August Oetker Marlene Ahlmann Susanne Jantsch Maja von Malaisé
1916-2007 divorced in 1941 divorced in 1951
Rosely August Bergit Christian Richard Alfred  Carl Ferdinand  Julia
Schweizer Oetker Douglas Oetker Oetker Oetker Oetker Oetker
b. 1940 b. 1944 b. 1946 b. 1948 b. 1951 b. 1967 b. 1972 h. 1979

Note: All known years are given.
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A NOTE ON SOURCES

Members of almost all the German business dynasties detailed in this book
declined to comment or be interviewed; others didn’t respond to requests
for interviews or questions sent to their spokesperson or family offic rep-
resentatives. But there was one notable exception.

Jorg Appelhans, the longtime spokesman for the two Quandt sib-
lings who control BMW, declined my request for an interview with Ste-
fan Quandt on the grounds that the academic study the family commis-
sioned to examine their patriarchs’ activities during the Third Reich was
“ground-breaking and comprehensive. Hence, we didn’t get further or new
insights above the study’s fi dings which are common knowledge since it
was published in 2011 When I asked him where, and for whom, he con-
sidered the fi dings to be “common knowledge,” Appelhans responded:
“Common knowledge in the sense that they have been published and thus
are accessible to everyone.”

Accessible to everyone who can read German, that is. The Quandt study,
and many similar ones commissioned by other dynasties, have never been
translated into other languages, even though most of the victims of their
patriarchs’ activities during the Nazi era weren't German, and the dynas-
ties’ business interests, then and now, are global. Nonetheless, Appelhans
wrote, “the Quandt Family is convinced that the goals of openness and
transparency were achieved ... We don't believe that renaming streets,
places or institutions is a responsible way to deal with historic figu es be-
cause such ‘damnatio memoriae’ . . . prevents a conscious exposure to their
role in history and instead fosters its neglect.” But so does commemorating

historical figu es with no mention whatsoever of their Nazi history.
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In response to questions I sent to the BMW Group, including why the
Munich carmaker is keeping its savior’s name on its charitable founda-
tion, which promotes “responsible leadership,” even after his activities in
the Third Reich were revealed, a representative of the BMW Foundation
Herbert Quandt wrote, in a statement to me, that “[the foundation] draws
on the entrepreneurial deeds of BMW and Herbert Quandt, which is why
it made a conscious decision: The long-term and forward-looking ac-
tions with which Herbert Quandt acted from 1959 to his death in 1982. ..
should be represented in the name of the foundation.”

I requested interviews with Gabriele Quandt and Colleen-Bettina
Rosenblat, daughters of Harald Quandt, but they “decided against doing
an interview; their family offic spokesman, Ulrich von Rotenhan, wrote
to me.

The documents detailing Giinther Quandt’s denazifi ation trial and
appeals, including many documents on the Aryanizations that Giinther,
Herbert, and their executives conducted in Nazi-occupied nations during
World War II, can be found on microfi he copies of folders 1362 and 1363
at the Bavarian State Archives in Munich. The documents from the Quandt
family archive that Joachim Scholtyseck cited in the commissioned study,
and that the Quandts considered relevant enough to be made available to
researchers, are accessible at the Hessian Business Archives in Darmstadt.

Antiquarian booksellers in Germany proved to be a gold mine of pri-
mary sources. They sold me Giinther’s bundled letters from 1938, his post-
war memoir, Quandt company books from the 1930s, and much more. It
felt particularly satisfying to buy Herbert’s 1980 private biography that he
commissioned, given the length that Herbert’s handlers went to keep the
book out of the hands of journalists, a scenario that is vividly described
in archival correspondence. Joseph Goebbels’s diaries, spanning 1923
through 1945 and edited by Elke Frohlich, are available online at De Gruy-
ter publishing company for an annual licensing fee.

Riidiger Jungbluth’s 2002 and 2015 biographies about the Quandt dy-
nasty were equally indispensable sources, as was Joachim Scholtyseck’s
2011 study.
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Family offic representatives for Ingrid Flick and her twins in Vienna de-
clined to comment on a list of questions I sent about Ingrid’s direct philan-
thropic giving and the philanthropy she conducts in the name of her father-
in-law, the convicted Nazi war criminal Friedrich Flick. After reaching out
to Frankfurt’s Goethe University with questions about how it reconciles the
Flick foundation’s annual fi ancial contributions to the academic institu-
tion with its namesake’s problematic place in history, a university spokes-
man sent me this statement: “Goethe University has been working with
the Friedrich Flick Foundation for six years and has come to know it as a
fair, reliable and generous partner. Thanks to the foundation’s exemplary
commitment, it has been possible to fi ance projects in research and teach-
ing as well as scholarships for which no other funds would otherwise have
been available. The cooperation represents an important building block
in the context of the diverse commitment of sponsors to the university.”
Friedrich Karl Flicks eldest daughters, Alexandra Flick-Butz and Elisabeth
von Auersperg-Breunner, did not respond to an interview request or to
questions sent to their respective family office epresentatives in Munich.

Out of all the German business dynasties detailed in this book, the only
family member to respond to my questions was Gert-Rudolf Flick, also
known as “Muck” He did so with candor. Friedrich Flick’s eldest grandson,
and Otto-Ernst’s eldest son, is almost eighty years old and has been liv-
ing in London for decades, where he writes and teaches about Old Master
paintings. Muck was born in France in 1943, during his father’s disastrous
reign at the expropriated Rombach steelworks in Nazi-occupied Lorraine.
He was close to his grandfather Friedrich up until the patriarch’s death, in
1972, when Muck was almost thirty years old. Friedrich Flick had hoped
that Muck and his younger brother, Mick, both of them mentored by the
patriarch, would one day take the reins at the family conglomerate. But it
didn’t turn out as planned.

I received permission from Muck to cite part of our email correspon-
dence: “During his lifetime we did not discuss the war; my brother and
I obviously admired and venerated my grandfather who was a genius in
more ways than one,” Muck wrote. “Now more ugly things have come out.

One could take a harsher view, but I remember him as a very gifted human
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being, and I cannot change my feelings retroactively. I am deeply grateful
to have known him and not only for the wealth he bestowed on us.” Muck’s
siblings, Mick Flick and Dagmar von Wietersheim, did not respond to in-
terview requests sent to Mick’s foundations in Potsdam and Zurich and
Dagmar’s family office in  unich.

The 1947 Nuremberg trial proceedings against Friedrich Flick and his
associates, including many documents, are available online. As secondary
sources, I relied heavily on Kim Christian Priemel’s PhD study from 2007,
about the Flick conglomerate, and the studies that Dagmar and Mick, re-
spectively, commissioned from two separate groups of German historians:
the 2009 study about the Flick conglomerate in the twentieth century, con-
ducted by Norbert Frei, Ralf Ahrens, Jorg Osterloh, and Tim Schanetzky;
and the 2008 study about the Flick conglomerate during the Third Reich,
conducted by Johannes Béhr, Alex Drecoll, Bernhard Gotto, Harald Wix-
forth, and again, Kim Christian Priemel. Gilinther Ogger’s 1971 biography
of Friedrich Flick has also withstood the test of time remarkably well. The
Berlin-Brandenburg Business Archive has an entire Flick research archive,
which contains original and copied documents used in the academic study
that Dagmar commissioned. In a bizarre coincidence, the Flick archive is
housed in what used to be a part of Giinther Quandt’s sprawling DWM
arms complex in Berlin's Wittenau neighborhood. Unfortunately, due to
the COVID-19 pandemic, I wasn't able to visit the archive.

In June 2021, Annemarie Thoene, the longtime secretary at August “Gustl”
von Finck Jr’s private offic in Munich, informed me over the phone that
their “communication policy” remained unchanged —von Finck Jr. still
didn’t give interviews, and there was no designated email address by which
to request an interview. Previously, I have been referred to a fax number
when seeking a comment from Gustl. But for this book, I was told to write
a letter. Gustl did not respond to the interview request and other questions
I sent by courier letter to his private offic over summer and early fall 2021.
Gustl died in London in late November 2021. His half brothers, Helmut
and Gerhard, also did not respond to interview requests. Nor did the PR
guru of Goal AG, Alexander Segert. David Bendels also did not respond to
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an interview request to discuss the alleged connections between the AfD
and the mysterious Association for the Preservation of the Rule of Law and
Citizen Freedoms. The AfD’s spokesman, Peter Rohling, declined to make
a member of the party’s leadership available for an interview on the subject.

August von Finck Sr’s original denazifi ation trial documents are lo-
cated in folder 409 at the Bavarian State Archives in Munich. Many of the
documents detailing the Aryanization transactions of the Dreyfus and
Rothschild banks by Merck Finck can be found at the National Archives
and Record Administration in College Park, Maryland, or through its on-
line partner, Fold3, which has digitized millions of records. Ingo Kéhler’s
2005 PhD study about the Aryanization of Jewish-owned private banks in
Germany was a vital source, as was a 2001 study about Allianz during the
Third Reich by Gerald Feldman. For the chapter about the connections
between the AfD, the association, Goal, and August von Finck Jr’s orbit, I
relied on the groundbreaking reporting of the journalists Melanie Amann,
Sven Becker, Ann-Katrin Miiller, and Sven Rébel at Der Spiegel; Anna Jik-
hareva, Jan Jirat, and Kaspar Surber at Wochenzeitung; Friederike Haupt at
the Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung; Christian Fuchs and Paul Middelhoff
at Die Zeit; and Roman Deininger, Andreas Glas, and Klaus Ott at Siiddeut-
sche Zeitung.

The Porsche company in Stuttgart declined to make Wolfgang Porsche, a
son of Ferry Porsche and the speaker for the Porsche side of the Porsche-
Piéch clan, available for an interview. In written responses to my questions,
Sebastian Rudolph, the Porsche company’s head of communications, char-
acterized Ferry’s anti-Semitic and discriminatory statements in his 1976
autobiography, We at Porsche, as testifying to “alack of empathy on the part
of Ferry Porsche towards the fate of Adolf Rosenberger and other Jewish
families who had to leave Germany . .. Ferry Porsche believed that Adolf
Rosenberger had at least been treated and compensated correctly by the
company. This is the only way to interpret his annoyance at the renewed
disputes after the Second World War”

A 1996 study about the Volkswagen factory complex during the Third

Reich by Hans Mommsen and Manfred Grieger was an invaluable resource,
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as was Bernhard Rieger’s 2013 study about the history of the Volkswagen
Beetle. I also relied on various biographies about the Porsche-Piéch clan
by the German and Austrian journalists Stefan Aust, Thomas Ammann,
Georg Meck, Wolfgang Fiirweger, and the documentaries about Porsche’s
Jewish cofounder Adolf Rosenberger by Eberhard Reuf3.

The original German version of the 2017 study by Wolfram Pyta and his
two colleagues about the Porsche fi m’s origins can be considered a credi-
ble source, despite its signifi ant shortcomings. It’s thoroughly researched,
which makes Pyta’s failure to inspect the private papers of Adolf Rosen-
berger even more confusing and troubling. While Pyta also failed to prop-
erly characterize the 1935 buyout of Adolf Rosenberger from the Porsche
fi m by Ferdinand Porsche and Anton Piéch as an Aryanization, the histo-
rian admitted to me in a Zoom interview that the transaction constituted
an “Aryanization profit”

In the last days of fact-checking the book, the Porsche fi m’s spokesman
suddenly sent me an access code to a digital-only English translation of
Pyta’s study. After four years of research, I was very surprised to learn that
this version even existed. I had never come across it because there’s almost
no mention of it online. As it turns out, access to the English translation of
Pyta’s study is available only after one requests it from the Porsche fi m or
when the company chooses to provide it. That is one reason why the En-
glish translation of Pyta’s study can’t be considered a credible source. The
second and more important reason is that words were added to at least one
crucial paragraph in the English version, which give the impression that
Ferry Porsche lied about his application to the SS only during the immedi-
ate postwar era. In truth, he lied about his voluntary membership in the SS
for the rest of his life. Himmler, Ferry maintained, forced him to accept an
honorary rank. The fabrication appears in both of Ferry’s autobiographies
and in a 1952 affidavit from Ferry to the United States consulate in Stutt-

gart, which the Porsche company provided to me.
Jorg Schillinger, the longtime spokesperson for the Dr. Oetker conglomer-

ate in Bielefeld, declined to make any member of the Oetker family avail-

able to me for an interview. Christoph Walther, a spokesperson for the
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three youngest children of Rudolf- August Oetker, wrote to me, “They have
no intention to go on record on this topic beyond what has already been
published”

The 2013 study of the Dr. Oetker fi m and the Oetker/Kaselowsky fam-
ily during the Third Reich, by Jiirgen Finger, Sven Keller, and Andreas
Wirsching, was an indispensable source, as was Riidiger Jungbluth’s 2004
history of the Oetker dynasty and conglomerate. The Dr. Oetker archive in
Bielefeld is generally open to researchers but has been closed since the start

of the COVID-19 pandemic. For this reason, I wasn’t able to visit it.

The longtime spokeswoman for the Reimann family declined to make a
member of the Vienna-based clan available for an interview. She did set
up an interview for me in Berlin with Peter Harf and two other execu-
tives from the Alfred Landecker Foundation. Unsurprisingly, Harf failed
to show up. He did agree to answer most of my questions in writing, but
my quest to one day interview the elusive billionaire in person continues.
The Reimann-commissioned study about the family and its fi m during
the Third Reich is expected to be published in 2023. It will be paired with
the publication of a biography of Alfred Landecker. The Bahlsen study is
expected to be completed in the summer of 2023, according to a company
spokesman, though he does not know yet when it will be published. In an
interview with the Siiddeutsche Zeitung in September 2021, Verena Bahlsen
seemed to have come around. She told the newspaper: “We have failed for
decades to create transparency about our Nazi history. I believe this will
continue if we don’t take advantage of this opportunity now. And I have to
push my family to talk about it”

This book is a work of narrative nonfi tion. Its comprehensively
sourced with endnotes and has been independently fact-checked. In in-
stances where the various sources cited provide differing accounts of the
same event, I have chosen the most plausible version. Any errors that re-

main are my own.
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NOTES

ABBREVIATIONS

ARD: Germany’s main public broadcaster

HWA: Hessian Business Archives

NARA: National Archives and Records Administration, Washington
NDR: North German Broadcasting

NMT: Nuremberg Military Tribunals

NND: Designation for declassifi d documents

OMGUS: United States Office f Military Government for Germany
OSS: Office f Strategic Services

STAM: State Archives Munich

SWR: Germany’s Southwest Broadcasting

TG:

The Diaries of Joseph Goebbels (Die Tagebiicher von Joseph Goebbels)

USACA: United States Allied Commission for Austria
USHMM: United States Holocaust Memorial Museum, Washington

page
1
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Prologue: The Meeting

“And there they stand”: Eric Vuillard, The Order of the Day (London: Picador, 2018,
trans.), 17.

about two dozen: For two (incomplete) attendance lists, see Dirk Stegmann, “Zum
Verhiltnis von Groflindustrie und Nationalsozialismus, 1930-1933,” Archiv fiir Sozial-
geschichte 13 (1973), 478, 481; Henry Ashby Turner Jr., German Big Business and the
Rise of Hitler (New York: Oxford University Press, 1985), 468 n81.

“explain his policies”> NMT, Vol. VII, “The IG Farben Case” (Washington, DC: US
Government Printing Offi , 1953), 557, https://www.loc.gov/rr/frd/Military_Law/
pdf/NT_war-criminals_Vol-VILpdf.

In tow was Walther: Stegmann, “Verhiltnis,” 478.
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12

15

16

settle the struggle: NMT, Vol. VII, 557-60.

“Private enterprise”: NMT, Vol. VII, 558.

“We must first gain”> NMT, Vol. VIL560.

“the last election”> NMT, Vol. VII, 561.

“for having given us” NMT, Vol. VII, 562.

“that with political pacification” NMT, Vol. VII, 561-62.

Goring’s conclusion: NMT, Vol. VII, 562.

election campaign fund: Stegmann, “Verhéltnis,” 480.

“And now, gentlemen”: Cited in Louis Lochner, Tycoons and Tyrant (Chicago: Henry
Regnery, 1954), 146-47.

twelve million reichsmarks: Giinter Ogger, Friedrich Flick der Grosse (Bern: Scherz,
1971), 132.

The largest donations: NMT, Vol. VII, 567-68.

“Goring brings the joyful”: Elke Frohlich (ed.), TG (Munich: De Gruyter Saur, 1993-
2008), Feb. 21, 1933.
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“I am a capitalist”: Verena Bahlsen, “About the Future of Cookies,” Online Marketing
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sen-during-national-socialism-1933-to-1945/.

Spiegel magazine dug in: Felix Bohr, Jirgen Dahlkamp, and Jorg Schmitt, “Die Bahl-
sens und die SS;” Der Spiegel, May 17, 2019; Nils Klawitter, “So wurden die NS-
Zwangsarbeiter bei Bahlsen wirklich behandelt,” Der Spiegel, July 5, 2019.

attempted to flee: Rob van den Dobbelsteen, “De Engelandvaarders die het niet
haalden,” Provinciale Zeeuwse Courant, Oct. 9, 1993.

separated during the war: Peter de Waard, Schoonheid achter de Schermen (Amster-
dam: Querido, 2014), 105-19, 192-95.

dynasty descended from: David de Jong, “Nazi Goebbels’ Step-Grandchildren Are Hid-
den Billionaires,” Bloomberg News, Jan. 28, 2013.

goal of ‘openness”: Ridiger Jungbluth and Giovanni di Lorenzo, “NS-Vergangenheit
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1970), 45.

‘pure German blood”™: Citations in Kohler, Arisierung, 310.
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the chance to Aryanize: Peter Melichar, Neuordnung im Bankwesen (Vienna: Olden-
bourg, 2004), 397-98.

Louis was arrested: Giles MacDonogh, 1938: Hitler'’s Gamble (New York: Basic Books,
2009), 61, 69-71.
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geschichte, 414-26; Bihr et al., Flick-Konzern, 345-70; Frei et al., Flick, 239-47.
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Porsche dared show him: Volkswagen, Place of Remembrance of Forced Labor in the
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“Especially my presentation”: Frohlich, TG, Nov. 3, 1939.
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girls, motorcycles, and cars: Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 147.
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Christmas Day: Frohlich, TG, Dec. 26, 1940.
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“When the war came”: Cited in Treue, Herbert, 79.
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the Aryanized Hirschfeld: See Scholtyseck, Aufstieg, 528-30.
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the “best . . . object™ Cited in Scholtyseck, Aufstieg, 530.

“Since that time . . ”: Quandt and Quandt, Giinther, 242.

expand it they would: See Scholtyseck, Aufstieg, 537 ff.

“Green is our parachute”: Cited in Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 153.

“Harald has messed up”: Frohlich, TG, Feb. 12, 1941.

probably pulled some stunt: Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 153.

“really out of line”: Frohlich, TG, Feb. 13, 1941.

“The issue is solved”: Frohlich, TG, Feb. 20, 1941.

“Never was a more”: Winston Churchill, The Second World War (London: Bloomsbury,
2013), 429.
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magazine of AFA Berlin’s workers community, Year 8, Issue 5, Sept. 1941, STAM, de-
nazifi ation court documents Giinther Quandt, carton 1363/6.

widespread resistance: See Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 156.

“The German Air Corps”: Churchill, Second World War, 429.
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heard of mutilations: Frohlich, TG, May 31, 1941.

“Harald’s bravery”: Frohlich, TG, June 16, 1941.
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“Operation Crete has shown™ AFA-Ring, factory magazine of AFA Berlin’s workers
community, Year 8, Issue 5, Sept. 1941, STAM, denazifi ation court documents Giin-
ther Quandt, carton 1363/6.

“already made a lethal”: Cited in Scholtyseck, Aufstieg, 274.
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“A boy from a normal”: Cited in Ramge, Flicks, 56.

forced him to drop out: Ogger, Grosse, 218.
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n428.
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Ferry Porsche arrived: Porsche and Bentley, We at Porsche, 141; Ferry Porsche and
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Increasingly, forced labor: Volkswagen, Remembrance, 23.
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Ferry later claimed: Porsche and Bentley, We at Porsche, 162; Porsche and Molter,
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zern, 420-30; Frei et al., Flick, 317-23.
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accepted as a volunteer: Finger et al., Dr. Oetker, 358.

“married his money”: Cited in Michael Bloch, Ribbentrop (London: Abacus, 2003), 19.
They became fast friends: Finger et al., Dr. Oetker, 351.

started his application: Finger et al., Dr. Oetker, 358.

deployed as ground infantry: Scholtyseck, Aufstieg, 250.

“That’s all nonsense” Cited in Veit Harlan, Im Schatten meiner Filme (Giitersloh:
Mohn, 1966), 140.

“interesting things™: Frohlich, TG, July 23, 1942.

“vigorously” resisted: Frohlich, TG, Oct. 18, 1942.

“get through the coming”: Frohlich, TG, Oct. 13, 1942.

“living more dangerously”: Cited in Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 200.

“trouble with Soviet partisans”: Frohlich, TG, March 9, 1943.

Goebbels received a letter: Frohlich, TG, Feb. 24, 1943.

“Total war” was declared: See Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 200-201; Longerich, Goeb-
bels, 559-60.
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“use of unskilled workers™: Cited in Scholtyseck, Aufstieg, 427.

issued a new bond: Scholtyseck, Aufstieg, 426.

The labor shortage: See Tooze, Wages of Destruction, 513-17.

“one of the largest”: Tooze, Wages of Destruction, 517.

prisoners in concentration camps: See Marc Buggeln, Slave Labor in Nazi Concentration
Camps (Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press, 2014, trans.), 20-21.

At least twelve million: See Mark Spoerer and Jochen Fleischhacker, “Forced Laborers
in Nazi Germany: Categories, Numbers, and Survivors,” Journal of Interdisciplinary
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Slave labor collaborations: Tooze, Wages of Destruction, 531-32.
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et al. (eds.), Konzentrationslager in Hannover (Hildesheim: August Lax, 1985), 50 ft.;
Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 190-99; Marc Buggeln, Arbeit ¢ Gewalt (Gottingen: Wall-
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“less than slaves™: See Benjamin Ferencz, Less Than Slaves (Bloomington: Indiana Uni-
versity Press, 2002).
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trial minutes, May 13/14, 1948, denazifi ation court Starnberg, STAM, denazifi ation
court documents Guinther Quandt, carton 1362/4; Giinther Quandt response to the
indictment by public prosecutor, Feb. 8, 1948, HWA, dept. 2017, folder 38; Jungbluth,
Quandts (2002), 202-4.

“performed excellently”: Frohlich, TG, June 20, 1943.

“the only sensible thing” Trial minutes, May 13/14, 1948, denazifi ation court Starn-
berg, STAM, denazifi ation court documents Giinther Quandt, carton 1362/4.

would be “finished”: Trial minutes, May 13/14, 1948, denazifi ation court Starnberg,
STAM, denazifi ation court documents Giinther Quandt, carton 1362/4.

“a heartfelt personal telegram™ Cited in Priemel, Konzerngeschichte, 578.

“in the right light”: Bahr et al., Flick-Konzern, 283.

“peasant forebears”: Quotes in NMT, Vol. VI, 183-84.

The asset value: See Béhr et al., Flick-Konzern, 495-96.

That year’s tax assessment: Frei et al., Flick, 396.

forced or enslaved: See Béhr et al., Flick-Konzern, 511; Frei et al., Flick, 328.

subcamp for “foreign Jews”: Cited in Frei et al., Flick, 359.

in favor of the immediate murder: Priemel, Konzerngeschichte, 492.

at the Rombach steelworks: On Rombach, see Priemel, Konzerngeschichte, 447-52;
Bihr et al., Flick-Konzern, 451-61; Frei et al., Flick, 299-306.

a “quality program”: Cited in Bahr et al., Flick-Konzern, 459.

“that the business couldn’t”: Citations in Priemel, Konzerngeschichte, 449.

working conditions at Rombach: see Priemel, Konzerngeschichte, 495-97; Bihr et al.,
Flick-Konzern, 527-28, 546-48; Frei et al., Flick, 307-9.

‘among the worst”: Priemel, Konzerngeschichte, 497.

“a mixture normally”: Cited Frei et al., Flick, 308.

was beaten to death: Frei et al., Flick, 308-9.

‘committed the crimes”: Bahr et al., Flick-Konzern, 548.

“Austrian national economy”: Citations in Pyta et al., Porsche, 315.

in his new job: Mommsen and Grieger, Volkswagenwerk, 453-76.

named “Work Village”: See Mommsen and Grieger, Volkswagenwerk, 496-515; Volks-
wagen, Remembrance, 81, 84; Buggeln, Slave Labor, 66-67.
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membrance, 58.
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“laced kitchen leftovers™ Rieger, People’s Car, 83.

“Nursery for Foreign Children”™ See Mommsen and Grieger, Volkswagenwerk, 762-65;
Volkswagen, Remembrance, 52.

“defied belief”: Cited in Rieger, People’s Car, 83-84.
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“immense disappointment”: NMT, Vol. V1, 366.
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“behaved anything but” Frohlich, TG, March 15, 1944.

“very unhappy” with: Frohlich, TG, March 16, 1944.
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“Keep your chin up”: Cited in Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 206.

Cegielski weapons complex: Scholtyseck, Aufstieg, 576-84.

twenty-four thousand people: Scholtyseck, Aufstieg, 680-81, 695-99, 709.

“The Wartheland is proud”: Reinhardt Nebuschka to Telford Taylor, Nov. 3, 1947,
STAM, denazifi ation court documents Giinther Quandst, carton 1362/1; Scholtyseck,
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“I couldn’t imagine”: “Einen besseren Vater konnte ich mir nicht vorstellen,” Welt am
Sonntag, Nov. 22, 1998.
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Otto-Ernst seized the chance: Priemel, Konzerngeschichte, 603-5; Frei et al., Flick,
467-68.

53



194

195

196

197

198

199

200

‘expressed a desire”: August von Finck interrogation, Sept. 25, 1947, NARA, OMGUS,
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.cornell.edu/nuremberg/catalog/nur:01772.

“Hitler’s support was”: Cited in Georg Meck, Auto Macht Geld (Berlin: Rowohlt, 2016),
79.

continued sending invoices: Mommsen and Grieger, Volkswagenwerk, 927-28, 940-41.
Rudolf-August entertained: Finger et al., Dr. Oetker, 374-77.
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threatened him with: Bahr et al., Flick-Konzern, 582, 610; NMT, Vol. V1, 261-62.
appointed Telford Taylor: Taylor, Anatomy, 274-92.
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split the family business: Mommsen and Grieger, Volkswagenwerk, 937-38; Pyta et al,,
Porsche, 328-30, 364-67.

a thousand dollars: Reuf3, “Rosenberger;” ARD/SWR, June 24, 2019.

Giinther Quandt was told: Scholtyseck, Aufstieg, 734.
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man Industry and the Challenge of the Nazi Past (Chapel Hill: University of North
Carolina Press, 2001), 43-44; Frank M. Buscher, The US War Crimes Trial Program
in Germany (New York: Greenwood Press, 1989), 49-50; Jean Edward Smith, Lucius
D. Clay (New York: Henry Holt, 1990), 378-87, 425-44; Frederick Taylor, Exorcising
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“pseudo-arguments”: Gunther Quandt response to the indictment by public prosecu-
tor, Feb. 8, 1948, HWA, dept. 2017, folder 38.

a small prefab house: Scholtyseck, Aufstieg, 742-43.
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upheld the lower court’s: Ruling appeals chamber Upper Bavaria, April 29, 1949, STAM,
denazifi ation court documents Giinther Quandt, carton 1362/4.

upheld the decision: Bavaria’s cassation court ruling, Dec. 2, 1949, STAM, denazifi a-
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June 24, 2019.
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2012), 172-225; Taylor, Final Report, 22-27, 78-79, 184-201 ft.

“A dictatorship is”> NMT, Vol. VI, 32-33.

“The story of this” NMT, Vol. VI, 114-15.

But it wasn't easy: Priemel, Konzerngeschichte, 640-41; Béhr et al., Flick-Konzern, 627-
30; Frei et al., Flick, 426.

Dix spoke about: NMT, Vol. VI, 115-34.

industrialist defended himself: NMT, Vol. VI, 217-25, 382-83, 405 ft., 1015-16; Frei et
al., Flick, 420.

‘I was glad if I”: NMT, Vol. VI, 222-23,

“‘an advocate” of: NMT, Vol. VI, 133.

“howling with the wolves”: Cited in NMT, Vol. V1, 997.

an array of strategies: See Priemel, Konzerngeschichte, 635-41; Béhr et al., Flick-Kon-
zern, 635-39; Frei et al,, Flick, 421-23; NMT, Vol. V1, 4, 202 ff., 285 ff.

“best cooks in the world™: Cited in Béhr et al., Flick-Konzern, 638.

The presiding judge: Priemel, Konzerngeschichte, 640.

testified about “strolling”: Citations in Frei et al., Flick, 422.

‘a mere anachronism” NMT, Vol. VI, 974.

“every indication of  NMT, Vol. V1, 1034-35.

“The defendants lived”: NMT, Vol. VI, 115, 1172.

the “large scope”> NMT, Vol. VI, 1117-18.

“I am here as”: NMT, Vol. VI, 1186-87.

monster of a trial: NMT, Vol. VI, 3-4.

The judgment was: For the ruling, see NMT, Vol. VI, 1187-228.

“exceedingly (if not excessively)”: Taylor, Final Report, 187.

“A sale compelled” NMT, Vol. VI, 1214.

“a blank check”: NMT, Vol. VI, 1221.

His conviction stood: NMT, Vol. VI, 1225-33.

complex negotiations: See Priemel, Konzerngeschichte, 661-71; Frei et al., Flick, 476-
86.

McCloy’s decision: Kai Bird, The Chairman (New York: Simon & Schuster, 1992), 359-
75; Priemel, Betrayal, 352-68.

‘embodiment of political”: Telford Taylor, “The Nazis Go Free,” The Nation, Feb. 24,
1951, 171.

Flick was released: Ogger, Grosse, 254; Frei et al., Flick, 445-46.

“My court was clearly”: “Der Eisenmann,” Der Spiegel, Sept. 16, 1958.

undergone denazification: Frei et al., Flick, 436-37.

quite successfully: Priemel, Konzerngeschichte, 671-702; Frei et al.,, Flick, 486-
522.
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Part V: “Nine Zeros”

harder than ever: Quandt and Quandt, Giinther, 256-57; Treue, Herbert, 125.

“a little death”: Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 238.

“Deutschland, Deutschland”: Cited in Liz Crolley and David Hand, Football and Euro-
pean Identity (London: Routledge, 2006), 70.

economy had quadrupled: Werner Abelshauser, Deutsche Wirtschaftsgeschichte (Mu-
nich: C. H. Beck, 2011), 152-81.

“He never submitted”: Citations in Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 238-39; see also Abs’s
and Pavel’s full speeches in “In Memoriam Giinther Quandt geb. 28.7.1881, + 30. Dec.
19547

“prepared his actions”: “In Memoriam Giinther Quandt geb. 28.7.1881, + 30. Dec.
19547

retained many assets: Quandt and Quandt, Giinther, 253-56; Treue, Herbert, 92-94,
106-9, 131-33, 141; Scholtyseck, Aufstieg, 785-821.

restitution proceedings: Scholtyseck, Aufstieg, 801.

“There wasn't a single”: Interview with Gerhard Wilcke, April 21, 1978, HWA, dept.
2017, folder 82.

filed a restitution claim: For more about the Eisner saga, see Scholtyseck, Aufstieg,
401-3, 953 n245.

“The power of the great”: Kurt Pritzkoleit, Mdnner-Mdchte-Monopole (Frankfurt: Karl
Rauch, 1953), 70, 88.

Dynastic and entrepreneurial: Treue, Herbert, 103, 114, 120, 123, 130-33.

Giinther left behind: Estate of Dr. Giinther Quandt, HWA, dept. 2017, folder 44;
Scholtyseck, Aufstieg, 159-70, 834-38.

larger than 55.5 million: Rudiger Jungbluth, Die Quandts: Deutschlands erfolgreichste
Unternehmerfamilie (Frankfurt: Campus, 2015), 199.

“To what extent the securities”: Cited in Scholtyseck, Aufstieg, 160.

“With all due reverence”: Cited in Scholtyseck, Aufstieg, 838.

“The battle for Daimler”: Ogger, Grosse, 281.

went head to head: On their battle and deal for Daimler, see Ogger, Grosse, 281-96,
300-303; Treue, Herbert, 141-46; Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 243-46; Frei et al., Flick,
524-26, 535-38.

found themselves on opposing: On their battle for BMW, see Ogger, Grosse, 296-300;
Treue, Herbert, 146-56; Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 246-56; Frei et al., Flick, 538-42.
decade-long restructuring: Treue, Herbert, 156-76; Jungbluth, Quandts (2015), 219-24.
kept inviting them: Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 275-76; Scholtyseck, Aufstieg, 769-70.
“The same man who”: Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 275.

“a clever fellow and not”: Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 276.

Ferry surrounded himself: Jens Westemeier, Joachim Peiper: A Biography of Himmler’s
SS Commander (Surrey, UK: Schiffler ilitary History, 2007, trans.), 175-81.

stood for “Super-Sport”: Cited in Westemeier, Peiper, 181.

“You see . . . I silently”: Cited in Westemeier, Peiper, 180.

new sales record: Finger et al., Dr. Oetker, 404, 423.
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254

255

256
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worldwide conglomerate: Jungbluth, Oetkers, 212 ff.

Hugo Ratzmann: Finger et al., Dr. Oetker, 410; Jorg Osterloh and Harald Wixforth
(eds.), Unternehmer und NS-Verbrechen (Frankfurt: Campus, 2014), 269-97.
‘convinced me to stay”: Rudolf von Ribbentrop, My Father Joachim von Ribbentrop
(Barnsley: Pen & Sword, 2019, trans.), 428-30; quote on 430.

Rudolf-August first gave: Finger et al., Dr. Oetker, 410.

Rudolf-August bought: Jungbluth, Oetkers, 306.

responded radically: On the battle for Allianz, see “Kampf um Die Allianz,” Der Spiegel,
Dec. 14, 1954; Feldman, Allianz, 490, 496; Johannes Bahr and Christopher Kopper,
Munich Re (Munich: C. H. Beck, 2016, trans.), 295-98.

“The year 1945”: “Kampf,” Der Spiegel, Dec. 14, 1954.

wheeling and dealing: Priemel, Konzerngeschichte, 724-29; Frei et al., Flick, 572-75.
decision to rearm: Wolf Perdelwitz and Hasko Fischer, Waffenschmiede Deutschland
(Hamburg: Gruner + Jahr, 1984), 143-64; Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 263-66, 272;
Scholtyseck, Aufstieg, 805-17.

“has a deep aversion™ Cited in Ogger, Grosse, 333.

Flick’s weapon-production: Frei et al., Flick, 565-71, 647-48.

two of its cofounders: Porsche and Bentley, We at Porsche, 230-31, 245-46.

Ferry now once again: Porsche and Molter, Ferry, 203-4.

an enormous success: Frei et al., Flick, 648, 664-65; Porsche and Molter, Ferry, 207.
“We never know”: Porsche and Molter, Ferry, 208.

led another consortium: Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 266.

amphibious cars: Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 272; Porsche and Molter, Ferry, 204-6.
success making land mines: Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 267-70.

Harald Quandt’s Beechcraft King: On Harald’s death and memorial, see “In Memoriam
Harald Quandt, Geb. 1. Nov. 1921 — Gest. 22. Sept. 1967, HWA, dept. 2017, folder
85; “Die Stille Gruppe,” Der Spiegel, Oct. 1, 1967; Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 284-85;
Jungbluth, Quandts (2015), 241.

“filled with horror”: “In Memoriam Harald Quandt, Geb. 1. Nov. 1921 — Gest. 22. Sept.
1967, HWA, dept. 2017, folder 85.

Harald always prized: On Harald’s postwar life, see Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 271-
86.

“Among the excited”: Helene Rahms, Die Clique (Bern: Scherz, 1999), 156.

When a lawyer representing: Willi Winkler, Der Schattenmann (Berlin: Rowohlt, 2011),
102.

"It isn't difficult”: Neun Nullen,” Der Spiegel, May 18, 1970.

four wealthiest businessmen: Michael Jungblut, Die Reichen und die Superreichen in
Deutschland (Hamburg: Rowohlt, 1973), 65-97.

"like the fairy tale”: “Neun Nullen,” Der Spiegel, May 18, 1970.

politician for the NPD: Jungbluth, Oetkers, 215; Finger et al., Dr. Oetker, 409.
Rudolf-August privately met: “Trinkgeld fiir Ober,” Der Spiegel, Feb. 12, 1967.

NPD’s corporate backers: “Neonazis im Vormarsch,” Die Zeit, May 3, 1968.

public museum opened: Jungbluth, Oetkers, 245-48, 337-45; Osterloh and Wixforth,
Unternehmer, 331-61.
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265

266
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supporter of the Nazis: Marc Wortman, “Famed Architect Philip Johnson’s Hidden
Nazi Past, Vanity Fair, April 4, 2016, https://www.vanityfair.com/culture/2016/04/
philip-johnson-nazi-architect-marc-wortman.

met with Ferry: Reuf3, “Rosenberger,” ARD/SWR, June 24, 2019.

“After the war, it seemed’: Porsche and Bentley, We at Porsche, 227-29.

helped Rosenberger’s parents: Pyta et al., Porsche, 306-7.

“vowed to each other” Treue, Herbert, 123.

a separation of assets: Treue, Herbert, 227-32, 279-80; Jungbluth, Quandts (2002),
296-305.

Inge was ill-suited: Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 310-11.

sold the stake: Treue, Herbert, 232-34; Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 301-2.

“was the most good-natured”: Citations in Frei et al., Flick, 620-21.

Otto-Ernst sued his father: “Von Friedrichs Gnaden,” Der Spiegel, June 4, 1963.
Otto-Ernst lost two trials: Frei et al., Flick, 632-41.

“has always been talented”: Cited in Priemel, Konzerngeschichte, 737.

He controlled the nation’s: Priemel, Konzerngeschichte, 727-28.

Jewish Claims Conference: Ferencz, Less Than Slaves, 158-69.

negotiations for restitution: For the proceedings, see Priemel, Konzerngeschichte, 703-
15; Béhr et al., Flick-Konzern, 678-719; Frei et al., Flick, 588-604.

“left to more objective”: Cited in Frei et al., Flick, 669.

wasted no time: Frei et al., Flick, 670-77; Ramge, Flicks, 188-206.

Friedrich Karl now ruled: Frei et al., Flick, 672-73; Ramge, Flicks, 207-12.

The tax exemptions: Frei et al., Flick, 678-86; Ramge, Flicks, 212-16.

almost twenty-six million: Frei et al., Flick, 687-88; Ramge, Flicks, 218-35.

“cultivating the political”: “Die gepfleg e Landschaft” Der Spiegel, Dec. 12, 1999.

“the bought republic”: “Die gekaufte Republik,” Der Spiegel, Nov. 29, 1983.

In the inquiry: Frei et al., Flick, 689-90, 697; Ramge, Flicks, 235-47.

The Price of Silence: Eberhard von Brauchitsch, Der Preis des Schweigens (Berlin: Pro-
pylden, 1999).

ceased to exist: Frei et al., Flick, 692-93; Ramge, Flicks, 249-51.

“the enormous fortune”: Priemel, Konzerngeschichte, 788.

The bank did so: James M. Markham, “Company Linked to Nazi Slave Labor Pays $2
Million,” New York Times, Jan. 9, 1986.

Porsche-Piéch clan: Meck, Auto, 147-55, 162-63.

threat of abduction: Jungbluth, Oetkers, 262-75.

“‘penny-pinching tyrant”: Louis S. Richman, “The Germans Survivors of Tumultuous
Times,” Fortune, Oct. 12, 1987.

“leading a dishonorable”: Cited in Markus Schar, “Vermogen mit Verfalldatum,” Die
Weltwoche, Jan. 8, 2015.

“a combination of”: See Gerhard von Finck, sales representative: http://gvfi ck.com/
about/.

split the estate: On the von Finck inheritance dispute, see Henryk Hielscher,
“Schlammschlacht ums Milliardenerbe,” Wirtschaftswoche, July 27, 2010; Séren Jen-
sen, “Milliondre gegen Milliardire,” Manager Magazin, Oct. 20, 2011; Leo Miiller, “Ein
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Erbstreit sondergleichen,” Bilanz, Dec. 8, 2015; “Urteil im Erbschaft drama,” Juve,
Sept. 13, 2019.

much of his fortune: Treue, Herbert, 286; Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 312-17.
“remained in his innermost” “In Memoriam Herbert Quandt 22. Juni 1910-2. Juni
1982 HWA, dept. 2017, folder 85.

contrasting outlooks: See Astrid Becker, Johannes Jansen, Martina Padberg, and Sonja
Poppel, Kunst im Harald Quandt Haus (Bad Homburg: Harald Quandt Holding,
2008); Jungbluth, Quandts (2015), 252, 384.

stunning historical reckoning: For Colleen-Bettina Rosenblat’s various accounts of
her path to Judaism, see Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 334-36; Bianca Lang, Andreas
Moller, and Mariam Schaghaghi, “Heimat sind Rituale,” Der Spiegel, Sept. 29, 2017;
Yvonne Weiss, “Das Schwere Erbe der Colleen B. Rosenblat-Mo,” Hamburger Abend-
blatt, Oct. 18, 2018.

“In the end, the whole”: Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 335.

“Quandt, this name”: Dagmar von Taube, “Colleen B. Rosenblat; Klare Ansichten,”
Welt am Sonntag, Dec. 20, 1998.

Part VI: The Reckoning

Germany’s wealthiest family: Christoph NefShover, “Die Reimanns sind die reichsten
Deutschen,” Manager Magazin, Oct. 1, 2019.

clan of shareholders: See JAB Holding Company, https://www.jabholco.com/.

“I am horrified”: Adam Luck and Alan Hall, “Nazi Slavery Past of Family Buying Pret
A Manger — Which Was Founded by Jewish Businessman — for £1.5 Billion,” Mail on
Sunday, Sept. 15, 2018.

reclusive Reimann shareholders: David de Jong and Annette Weisbach, “Billionaires
Unmasked as Coty Persists in Pursuit of Avon,” Bloomberg News, April 9, 2012; David
de Jong and Matthew Boyle, “The Caffeine Fix,” Bloomberg Markets, Feb. 11, 2015.

A Bild reporter had: Maximilian Kiewel, “Die Nazi-Vergangenheit von Deutschlands
Zweitreichster Familie: Die SS-Liebe von Else Reimann,” Bild am Sonntag, March 30,
2019.

“The Jew Karl Marx”: Citations in Maximilian Kiewel, “Sie sind 33 Milliarden Euro
Reich: Die Nazi-Vergangenheit der Calgon-Familie,” Bild am Sonntag, March 24,
2019.

“should have gone”: Maximilian Kiewel, “Reimann-Vertrauter Peter Harf zu den En-
thiillungen: Es gibt nichts zu beschonigen,” Bild am Sonntag, March 24, 2019.

“Krispy Kreme”: Chris Isidore, “Krispy Kreme Owners Admit to Family History of
Nazi Ties;,” CNN Business, March 25, 2019.

“I Found Out”: Devra First, “I Found Out Nazi Money Is Behind My Favorite Coffee.
Should I Keep Drinking It?” Boston Globe, June 4, 2019.

“This Is Embarrassing”: Rebecca Saltzman, “This Is Embarrassing, but It Turns Out
Our Fake Jewish Bagel Chain Was Funded by Nazis,” McSweeney’s, March 27, 2019.
the Reimanns’ fortune: On Harf and JAB, see de Jong and Boyle, “Caffeine Fix”; Fran-
ziska Scheven, “Buying into Success,” Handelsblatt, Aug. 4, 2018; “A Peek Inside JAB
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Holding,” Economist, June 20, 2020; Sven Clausen, “Clan ohne Klasse,” Manager Mag-
azin, April 23, 2021.

“By assuming responsibility”: Peter Harf to author, June 30, 2021.

forced German businesses: See Osterloh and Wixforth, Unternehmer, 365-79; Su-
sanne-Sophia Spiliotis, Verantwortung und Rechtsfrieden (Frankfurt: Fischer, 2003),
25-67; Mary Fulbrook, Reckonings (Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press, 2018), 343
44.

Piéch was an inappropriate: Dietmar Hawranek, “Porsche and Volkswagen’s Nazi
Roots,” Der Spiegel, July 21, 2009.

received much less money: Frei et al., Flick, 671, 677, 694.

following his initial donation: Alan Montefi re and David Vines (eds.), Integrity in
the Public and Private Domains (London: Routledge, 1999), 205 ft.; Frei et al., Flick,
762-63.

“total abhorrence”: Citations in Montefi re and Vines, Integrity, 215-16.

could leave him “destitute” Jenni Frazer, “Flick: Payment ‘Possible’ to Survivors,” Jewish
Chronicle, March 22, 1996.

following an agreement: Osterloh and Wixforth, Unternehmer, 379-90; Fulbrook,
Reckonings, 344-45. For further reading: Spiliotis, Verantwortung, 69-179.

“In this way, the German”: Fulbrook, Reckonings, 345.

Between 2001 and 2006: Facts and figu es, EVZ, Dec. 31, 2020, https://www.stiftung
-evz.de/eng/the-foundation/facts-and-figu es.html; Spiliotis, Verantwortung, 181-91;
Osterloh and Wixforth, Unternehmer, 384-86; Fulbrook, Reckonings, 345.

wrote an open letter: Dagmar Ottmann, “Die Ausstellung Verschieben! Ein offener
Brief;” Die Zeit, August 5, 2004.

donated millions: Ramge, Flicks, 12-13; Frei et al., Flick, 768-70.

surrounded by bodyguards: Michael Swersina, “Ingrid Flick im Gespréch mit den Un-
terkédrtner Nachrichten,” Unterkdrtner Nachrichten, March 6, 2019.

“Finally, my husband”: Paul Sahner, “Jetzt redet die schéne Witwe,” Bunte, Jan. 7, 2010.
world’s youngest billionaires: David de Jong, “The World’s Youngest Billionaires Are
Shadowed by a WWII Weapons Fortune,” Bloomberg News, May 3, 2018.

“I help wherever”: Swersina, “Ingrid,” Unterkdrtner, March 6, 2019.

“a very substantial amount”: Major Gift for Tel Aviv Museum of Art from Ingrid Flick,”
Artnet News, May 22, 2014.

Ingrids “main concern” Friedrich Flick Forderungsstiftung Gremien, https://www
Ali kfoerderungsstiftung.de/gremien/.

purposes of whitewashing: Tim Schanetzky, Regierungsunternehmer (Gottingen: Wall-
stein, 2015), 8-9.

Ingrid Flick took over: Friedrich Flick Forderungsstiftung Geschichte und Férderung-
szweck, https://www.fli kfoerderungsstiftung.de/geschichte-und-foerderungszweck/.
Flick’s name was removed: Thilo Schmidt, “Der Mann der Kreuztal nicht zur Ruhe
kommen lésst,” Deutschlandfunk, March 20, 2017; see also https://www.fli k-ist-kein
-vorbild.de/.

Since 2015, the Friedrich: Statement provided by Goethe University spokesman Olaf
Kaltenborn, July 19, 2021.
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German student scholarship: Deutschlandstipendium sponsors, Goethe University,
2016, https://www.uni-frankfurt.de/61624067/Unsere_F%C3%B6rderer_2016.

The Flick money: “Barry Eichengreen Appointed Visiting Professor for Financial His-
tory 2019,” Goethe University, Oct. 4, 2018, aktuelles.uni-frankfurt.de/englisch/barry
-eichengreen-appointed-visiting-professor-for-fi ancial-history-2019/.

has earned a seat: Goethe University’s foundation board of trustees, March 2, 2021,
uni-frankfurt.de/51849455/Mitglieder_des_Stiftungskuratoriums_der_Goethe
_Universitat.

“Adolf Messer is in no way”: “Zur Geschichte der Messer-Werke im NS,” Feb. 28, 2018,
https://forschungsstelle.files.wordpress.com/2018/03/adolf_messer-kritik_gutachten
__akten-maerz2018.pdf.

lounge was renamed: Daniel Majic, “Umstrittene Lounge in Goethe-Uni wird um-
benannt,” Frankfurter Rundschau, Feb. 15, 2019.

rechristened its foundation: The foundation is now named for Adolf Messer’s son, Hans
Messer. http://dr-hans-messer-stiftung.de/.

are more transparent: Alfried Krupp Stiftung, https://www.krupp-stiftung.de/alfried
-krupp/; Fritz Thyssen Stiftung history, https://www.fritz-thyssen-stiftung.de/en/
about-us/general-information/history/.

“The kids have to learn”: Sahner, “Jetzt,” Bunte, Jan. 7, 2010.

are the Quandts: Eric Friedler, “Das Schweigen der Quandts,” ARD/NDR, Sept. 30,
2007, Youtube video, 59:26, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=FpQpgd_EeWY.
dark part of the Quandts’ history: Susanne and Stefan Quandt did comment in the
biography on other things: see Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 350 ff. Two of Harald’s
daughters did comment in it about their father and their grandmother Magda in rela-
tion to the Nazi era: Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 275, 334-36.

“Whenever I dream”: Friedler, “Schweigen,” ARD/NDR, Sept. 30, 2007.

“Since we recognize”: Cited in Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 344.

“They reacted harshly”: Friedler, “Schweigen,” ARD/NDR, Sept. 30, 2007.

Varta eventually did: Jungbluth, Quandts (2002), 343.

“We must try to forget”: Friedler, “Schweigen,” ARD/NDR, Sept. 30, 2007.

“to treat our history”: Cited in Eric Friedler, “Das Schweigen der Quandts” ARD/
NDR, Nov. 22, 2007, Youtube video, 1:29:45, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=
19hNjm]JxcOU.

“an almost pathological”: “Nach Kriften Mies,” Der Spiegel, Dec. 8, 1974.

“in a climate of fear”: Speech, Stefan Quandt, Herbert Quandt Medien-Preis, June
22, 2008, https://www.johanna-quandt-stiftung.de/medien-preis/2008/rede-stefan
-quandt.

he could have left: Quandt and Quandt, Giinther, 245-46.

from a sordid affair: Jungbluth, Quandts (2015), 331-41.

“A light has been cast”: Lorenz Wagner, “Susanne Klatten — Die Unbekannte,” Finan-
cial Times Deutschland, Nov. 21, 2008.

“inseparably” linked: Scholtyseck, Aufstieg, 763.

“left no room for”: Scholtyseck, Aufstieg, 849.

“The family patriarch” Scholtyseck, Aufstieg, 843.
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“lightheartedly and shamefully” Scholtyseck, Aufstieg, 314.

“Doubts about the legitimacy”: Scholtyseck, Aufstieg, 406, 537.

“There can be no doubt”: Scholtyseck, Aufstieg, 766

“It hurts. Giinther Quandt”: Ridiger Jungbluth and Giovanni di Lorenzo, “NS-Vergan-
genheit der Quandts: Man fiihlt sich grauenvoll und schamt sich,” Die Zeit, Sept. 22,
2011.

more than five million: M. Backhaus and B. Uhlenbroich, “Die Quandt Familien
brechen ihr Schweigen,” Bild am Sonntag, Nov. 6, 2011.

“I don’t see any”: Jungbluth and di Lorenzo, “NS-Vergangenheit,” Die Zeit.

“As with other important™ Biografie Herbert Quandt, https://www.johanna-quandt
-stiftung.de/medien-preis. (Last accessed this version of the biography on Monday,
October 25, 2021. The biography was replaced on the website between October 26 and
October 29, 2021.)

In mid-October 2013: Rudiger Jungbluth and Anne Kunze, “August Oetker: ‘Mein
Vater war Nationalsozialist,” Die Zeit, Oct. 17, 2013.

had been denied access: Jungbluth, Oetkers, 388-91.

individual billionaires: David de Jong, “Nazi-Forged Fortune Creates Hidden German
Billionaires,” Bloomberg News, Feb. 3, 2014.

prompted the Oetkers: Finger et al., Dr. Oetker, 17; “Wie geht Oetker kommunikativ
mit seiner NS-Vergangenheit um, Herr Schillinger?” Pressesprecher, Dec. 17, 2013.
“Kaselowsky, and with him”: Finger et al., Dr. Oetker, 415.

“My father was”: Jungbluth and Kunze, “Mein Vater.”

“We have always agreed”: “Oetker-Witwe kritisiert Historiker der Nazi-Studie,” Neue
Westfdlische, Oct. 22, 2013.

a power struggle: Simon Hage and Michael Machatschke, “Schiedsgericht soll Macht-
kampf bei Oetker entschirfen,” Manager Magazin, Jan. 23, 2014.

The dispute revolved around: Maria Marquart, “Pizza, Pudding, Beef, Der Spiegel,
March 16, 2019.

nightmare came true: Dr. August Oetker KG, “Oetker Group to Be Split,” July 22,
2021.

“reinforcing its commitment”: “Porsche Creates the Ferry Porsche Foundation,
Porsche AG, May 16, 2018, https://newsroom.porsche.com/en/company/porsche
-ferry-porsche-foundation-social-responsibility-education-social-issues-youth
-development-foundation-funding-15487.html.

“Dealing with one’s own™ “Ferry Porsche Foundation Endows First Professorship
for Corporate History in Germany,” University of Stuttgart, March 8, 2019, https://
www.uni-stuttgart.de/en/university/news/all/Ferry-Porsche-Foundation-endows
-fi st-professorship-for-corporate-history-in-Germany/.

“As bad as these”: Porsche and Molter, Ferry, 192.

“if you are made”: Porsche and Molter, Ferry, 124.

indeed voluntarily applied: Pyta et al., Porsche, 307-8, 458 n16; Westemeier, Krieger,
540-541.

‘exposing the denial”: Pyta et al., Porsche, 308.
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